IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC08-1385 (LC Case No. 82-CF-352-C)

J. B. PARKER,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Direct Appeal from a June 19, 2008, Final Order of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Martin County, Florida, that denied Parker's Corrected Amended Initial Motion for Post Conviction Relief filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

> Baya Harrison, III 310 North Jefferson St. Monticello, FL 32344 Tel: 850.997.8469 FX: 850.997.5852 Fla. Bar No. 099568 Email: bayalaw@aol.com Attorney for Appellant, J. B. Parker

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal of a June 19, 2008, final order (R8/1099-1124) that denied the appellant's motion for post conviction relief (vacating his death sentence) in a capital case after a retrial of the penalty phase. J. B. Parker, the defendant in the lower tribunal, is the appellant here and will be referred to as "Parker" or "the defendant." The State of Florida, plaintiff below, is the appellee here and will be referred to as "the state."

The post conviction record on appeal is in 23 volumes. Except as noted below, the Clerk of the Circuit Court has placed a sequential page number in the bottom right-hand corner of each page. When referring to a particular page or pages of the record, Parker will use the letter "R" followed by an appropriate volume and page number. The transcripts of the March 7 and 11, 2008, evidentiary hearings regarding certain of the claims set forth in the corrected post conviction motion are found in volumes 20-23 of the record. The clerk did not place a page number at the bottom right-hand corner of these pages. The court reporter's page numbers for these volumes are located in the upper right-hand corner of each page. Thus, when referring to the transcripts of the evidentiary hearing, the appellant will use the letters "PCT" (for post conviction hearing

transcript) followed by an appropriate volume and page number. For clarity, the volume numbers are sequential throughout the record on appeal.

The record on appeal in *Parker v. State*, SC01-172, 873 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 2004) ("Parker VI"), the underlying case involving the direct appeal of the death sentence that was imposed upon Parker after the second penalty phase trial, will be referenced by the letters "OR" (for original record) followed by an appropriate volume and page number. The supplemental record on appeal (that dealt with the issue of the admissibility of a May 7, 1982 statement Parker made to law enforcement) related in that case will be referred to by the letters "SOR" (for supplemental original record on appeal) followed by an appropriate volume and page number.

Parker will refer to this initial brief of appellant as "IB" and to his reply brief as "RB." He will refer to the state's answer brief as "AB." Emphasis added by Parker will be in italics.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. <u>Nature of the Case</u>:

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida of a June 19, 2008, final "Order Denying Initial Amended Motion" (R8/1099-1124) regarding Parker's September 7, 2006 "Corrected Initial Amended Postconviction Motion" (R3/262-335) brought per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. An evidentiary hearing was granted as to some of the claims in the corrected motion. The Rule 3.851 motion sought to vacate a December 13, 2000, death sentence imposed after a second penalty phase trial in Martin County, Florida, Case No. 82-912-CF (Lake County, Florida, Case No. 82-352-CF¹).

B. <u>Jurisdiction</u>:

The Supreme Court of Florida has jurisdiction because this is a direct appeal as a matter of right of a final order rendered by the circuit court in a post conviction capital case. Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(1) and (9), Fla. Const. "We have jurisdiction over all death penalty appeals." *Parker v. State*, 873 So. 2d 270, 275, f. 1 (2004). The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction in post conviction capital cases. *Parker v. State*, 542 So. 2d 356-57 (Fla. 1989).

¹ Venue for the retrial was moved to Lake County, Florida, due to excessive pretrial publicity.

C. <u>Course of the Proceedings</u>:

On April 27, 1982, Parker, John Earl Bush, Alphonso Cave and Terry Wayne Johnson allegedly robbed a convenience store in Martin County, Florida. The store clerk, Frances Slater, was taken from the premises and later found dead in an isolated area of the county. *Parker v. State*, 476 So. 2d 134, 135 (Fla. 1985) ("Parker I"). She had been shot in the head one time and stabbed in the stomach. (R8/1099; OR26/1695-96, 1704-09) In 1983, after a jury trial during which the state argued that Parker admitted to Georgeann Williams that he shot the victim (OR 27/1759-60), Parker was convicted of kidnapping, armed robbery and firstdegree murder. *Parker, supra*, 476 So. 2d at135. Parker's co-defendants did not testify at his 1983 trial. The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 8-4. The trial judge sentenced Parker to death for the murder and to prison terms for the other offenses of conviction. (R8/1099)

Parker appealed asserting that the trial court erred during the guilt/innocence phase by : (1) allowing Georgeann Williams' mother to corroborate her testimony; (2) denying Parker's motion to suppress his taped statements and admissions; (3) denying Parker's request for a jury instruction on independent acts of others; (4) limiting the cross examination of Georgeann Williams ; and (5) denying a motion for mistrial on the grounds that the prosecutor made improper statements in his closing argument. As to the penalty phase, Parker claimed that the trial court erred by: (1) allowing the state to present evidence of Parker's prior criminal history during the cross examination of a mental health professional and; (2) finding as aggravating factors HAC, CCP and that the murder was committed during the course of an armed robbery and a kidnapping, and for pecuniary gain. On August 22, 1985, this Court rejected all of these claims, affirmed the judgments and sentences and found that the death sentence was proportional. Parker v. State ("*Parker* I") 476 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1985).

Bush and Cave were convicted of the same offenses in separate trials and sentenced to death. *See Bush v. State*, 461 So. 2d 936 (Fla. 1984) and *Cave v. State*, 476 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1985). Johnson was convicted of felony murder and kidnapping and given two life sentences. *Johnson v. State*, 484 So. 2d 1347 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), review denied, 494 So. 2d 1151 (Fla. 1986); (PCT21/471-72). Bush was executed in 1995. Cave remains on death row.

On December 3, 1987, Parker filed an initial motion to vacate his judgments of conviction and sentences per Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Parker claimed that his trial counsel was ineffective (a) in presenting a motion to suppress his taped statement and (b) during the penalty phase. Parker also asserted that the

state failed to inform the judge and jury of inconsistent positions it took regarding the triggerman and that the trial court erred in allowing expert testimony regarding the effectiveness of defense counsel. In addition, Parker claimed that his appellate counsel was ineffective. On April 5, 1988, after an evidentiary hearing, the Rule 3.850 motion was denied. This Court affirmed the ruling on direct appeal. *Parker v. State*, 542 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 1989) ("Parker II"). In so doing, this Court rejected Parker's claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. *Id.* at 357.

On August 29, 1989, a death warrant was signed by the governor of Florida calling for Parker's execution on October 27, 1989. On September 27, 1989, a second motion for post conviction relief was filed by the defendant. Parker asserted that: (1) the trial judge failed to give specific, written findings of fact contemporaneously with his sentencing decision, rendering the sentencing proceeding unreliable; (2) this Court failed to provide him with a meaningful review of his death sentence on direct appeal; and that (3) the state attorney improperly used victim impact evidence and discussed the victim's personal traits during closing arguments. Parker also filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus claiming ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. On October 11, 1989, the second Rule 3.850 motion was denied by the trial court. On October 25, 1989, this Court affirmed the denial of the second Rule 3.850 motion. It also denied

Parker's habeas corpus petition and a motion to stay his execution. *Parker v. State*, 550 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1989) ("Parker III").

On that same date (October 25, 1989), Parker filed a habeas corpus petition in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida per the provisions of Title 28, United States Code, Section 2254, contending, among other things, that Parker's initial statement to law enforcement dated May 5, 1982, was obtained in violation of his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights against self incrimination and to counsel. The district court granted a stay of execution. On August 30, 1990, after a brief hearing, the district court summarily denied the federal habeas corpus petition. Parker appealed. On October 6, 1992, the Eleventh United States Circuit Court of Appeal affirmed. However, in so doing, the circuit court determined that the May 5, 1982 statement was obtained in violation of the aforementioned constitutional provisions but that it was harmless error regarding both the guilt/innocence and penalty phases of the capital trial. Parker v. Singletary, 974 F.2d 1562, 1574-77 (11th Cir. 1992) ("Parker IV").

On June 22, 1994, Parker filed a successor Rule 3.850 motion in state circuit court claiming a *Brady* violation as the result of the prosecutor failing to reveal to the defense prior to Parker's original trial that Michael Bryant had overheard a conversation between Bush and Cave during which Cave admitted being the

shooter. Bryant relayed this information to Lieutenant Arthur Jackson who submitted an official report to that effect. "Bryant told him (Jackson) that Cave said they stabbed the victim and then Cave got sick of hearing her holler, so he shot her." *State v. Parker*, 721 So. 2d 1147, 1149 (Fla. 1998). "None of this information had ever been disclosed to Parker." *Ibid*. Parker's defense counsel only learned of it in 1993 after Michael Bryant testified (and the state insisted) in the resentencing of Alphonso Cave that Cave, not Parker, was the shooter. (*Ibid*; R8/1100) On November 12, 1996, after an evidentiary hearing, the state trial court denied the motion to vacate the judgments of guilt but granted a new penalty phase trial. That order was affirmed on direct appeal on September 4, 1998. *State v. Parker*, 721 So. 2d 1147-48 (Fla. 1998) ("Parker V").

On October 25 2000, after a second penalty phase trial, the jury recommended death by a vote of 11-1. (OR34/2861.) Following a *Spencer* hearing, the trial court, on December 13, 2000, resentenced Parker to death. (R8/1100; OR7/1328-36; OR36/2920-40) During the pendency of the appeal that followed, this Court relinquished jurisdiction to the trial court to conduct an evidentiary hearing on Parker's earlier summarily denied motion to suppress Parker's May 7, 1982 statement to law enforcement. (R8/1102) The trial court found that the state had proven beyond a reasonable doubt the same aggravators that had been established in the first trial. It rejected the mitigator that Parker was not the shooter. *Parker*, supra, 873 So. 2d at 276. The death sentence and the trial court order denying the motion to suppress were affirmed by this Court on direct appeal on January 22, 2004. *Parker v. State*, 873 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 2004) ("Parker VI"). Rehearing was denied on April 28, 2004. The mandate was issued on April 28, 2004.

On January 10, 2005, the Supreme Court of the United States denied Parker's July 23, 2004, petition for writ of certiorari. *Parker v. State*, 543 U.S. 1049 (2005) ("Parker VII").

On January 8, 2006, Parker with post conviction counsel Jo Ann Barone filed an" Initial Postconviction Motion" seeking the vacature of his second, December 13, 2000, death sentence. (R2/54-127) On September 6, 2006, he filed an "Amended Initial Postconviction Motion." (R3/203-261) On September 7, 2006, Parker filed a "Corrected Initial Amended Postconviction Motion." (R3/262-335) On January 16, 2007, the state filed a lengthy "Response to Defendant's Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence" that included many exhibits. (R4/377-541, R5/542-726, R6/727-852)

After a *Huff* hearing, two days of evidentiary hearings on some of Parker's post conviction claims were held on March 7 and 11, 2008. (PCT20/172-262; 21/263-381; 22/382-491; 23/492-599)

D. <u>Disposition in Lower Tribunal</u>:

On June 19, 2008, the trial court rendered a final "Order Denying Initial Amended Motion" in which Parker's efforts to vacate his second death sentence were rejected. (R8/1099-1124) On July 17, 2008, Parker filed a timely notice of appeal to this Court. (R8/1125)

E. <u>Statement of the Facts</u>:

Evidence Presented During the First Trial as Found by this Court

The Supreme Court of Florida included the following findings of fact in its opinion ("Parker I") that affirmed Parker's original judgments of conviction and death sentence:

On April 27, 1982, the 18-year-old victim was working the late shift in a convenience store in Stuart, Florida. The appellant and his codefendants, John Earl Bush, Alfonso Cave, and Terry Wayne Johnson, had set out in Bush's car from Fort Pierce to West Palm Beach. Appellant's taped statement reflects that during the course of the trip, Bush told the appellant, "We're going to rob something." Later Bush and Cave went into the convenience store where the victim was working, after previously visiting the store to stake it out. Bush and Cave took the money and the woman, placing her in the back seat of the car. The victim pleaded, "You aren't going to hurt me," and Bush responded, "Man, I'm going to kill this bitch. I done been to prison for six years and I ain't going back, 'cause this whore going to identify us." At an isolated location the victim was dragged out of the car by her hair. During the course of the 20-minute trip, the victim had pleaded that she not be hurt. At trial, Bush's girlfriend testified that, after the victim was removed from the car, Bush stabbed her and the appellant shot her. The victim apparently sank to the ground in a kneeling posture after being stabbed and was shot in the back of the head, execution-style, from a distance of approximately two feet. Medical testimony established that the gunshot -- not the stabbing, which was a two-inch shallow wound -- killed the victim. The appellant and the codefendants then drove back to Fort Pierce and split the money four ways, the appellant receiving twenty to thirty dollars.

A few days after the victim was found, codefendant Bush made a statement to the police implicating Parker along with the other codefendants. The appellant was arrested and taken to the Martin County jail where, aware that Bush had made a statement, he advised a jailer that he wanted to talk about the case. The jailer told the appellant that he could not talk to him, and that appellant had to talk to his attorney. The appellant responded that he did not want to talk to his attorney, but indicated that he wanted to talk to the sheriff. The sheriff also told appellant that he could not talk to him and that counsel had been appointed to represent him. The sheriff called the public defender's office, which sent a representative to the jail who advised the appellant not to say anything. Notwithstanding this advice, appellant wanted to go ahead and speak anyway to clear his conscience and to tell them that he did not kill the girl. The sheriff repeatedly advised appellant that a lawyer had been appointed to represent him and that nobody was going to force the appellant to make a statement. In response, Parker advised the sheriff that he still wanted to make a statement. In his statement, appellant denied participating in the killing and stated that Bush both stabbed and shot the victim. The appellant later retraced with law enforcement officials the route he and the codefendants had taken and showed them where they had taken the victim out of the car and where they had put the body.

The evidence also reflects that Bush's girlfriend, Georgeann Williams, went to visit Bush in Jail, during which time she also visited Parker. She testified concerning her conversation with Parker as follows:

Williams: I asked him what had happened. He said, "Didn't John (Bush) tell you." I said, "No, John didn't tell me anything." I said, "I just want to know who shot the girl, that's all."

Prosecutor:	Okay. And after you told J. B. Parker you just
	wanted to know who shot the girl, what did J. B.
	Parker tell you, Georgeann?

Williams: He told me, he said, "I shot her and John stabbed her." And he said if I mentioned it, it would be my word against his. He said that John already had a record, it would be on him, anyway.

Parker v. State, 476 So. 2d 134-36 (Fla. 1985).

Pertinent Testimony/Evidence Presented During Second Penalty Phase Trial

In the second penalty phase trial, the state presented the testimony of some of the same witnesses who testified against Parker in the original trial such as Georgeann Williams. She reiterated that, during a visit to the jail to see her boyfriend, co-defendant John Earl Bush, Parker admitted, "John stabbed her and I shot her." (OR27/1760) In addition, the state presented the testimony of codefendant Timothy Wayne Johnson who claimed that the first time the defendant went to the convenience store, all four went in to buy potato chips and that when they returned to the store later that evening, Parker went into the store with Cave and Bush to commit the robbery. Johnson also testified that when they arrived at the location where Slater was killed, Parker took the gun from Cave. Johnson stated that he heard a shot but did not know who shot Slater, that after the murder Parker told Bush to get rid of the knife, and that the four later split the money taken from the store. *Parker v. State*, 873 So. 2d 270, 275 (Fla. 2004). The state also introduced in evidence "... a statement made by Parker on May 7, 1982, when he went with Detective David Powers to the area where the victim was killed. During this time, Parker stated that Bush both stabbed and shot the victim, indicated where Bush had thrown the knife after the murder and recounted that the four defendants discussed killing a deputy sheriff, Timothy Bargo, who stopped the car in which they were riding on the night of the murder." *Parker*, supra, 873 So. 2d at 275. According to Detective Powers, Parker also advised where the gun and the money had been located in the vehicle and that he shared in the proceeds of the robbery (SOR2/54-5)

Parker countered with the testimony of several witnesses including Assistant State Attorney Richard Barlow who confirmed that he relied on the testimony of Michael Bryant during Alphonso Cave's resentencing to the effect that he (Bryant) overheard Cave acknowledge, while conversing with Bush, that he (Cave) was the one who shot Slater. *Parker*, supra, 873 So. 2d at 275-76. Portions of Michael Bryant's testimony during the Cave resentencing were read into the record including:

Well what I overheard, Bush was a couple of cells down and what it was, you know, they started talking about it and Bush told Cave, says, we wouldn't never be in here if you didn't try to burn her with a cigarette butt. He says, well, you stabbed her in the stomach and Bush told Cave, he says, well, you popped a cap in the back of her head.

Parker v. State, supra, 873 So. 2d at 276.

Evidence Presented During the Rule 3.851 Post Conviction Motion Hearing

Sue Gent was an investigator for Jo Ann Barone, Esq., Parker's post conviction trial counsel. (PCT20/181-83) Gent began her work in December of 2005. (PCT20/183) She studied the court files of Parker and his co-defendants as well as the files of David Lamos, Esq., Parker's counsel during the penalty phase retrial. (PCT20/183-84, 188) Gent also examined family court files regarding Izell Parrish and Georgeann Williams. (RT20/184) She met with Parker and with Tim Ferguson, the father of one of Georgeann Williams' children. (PCT20/185) She also met personally with Alphonso Cave, Judge William Makemson (Parker's trial counsel during the original trial), and with Richard Barlow who prosecuted Cave at his resentencing. (PCT20/186-87)

Gent prepared a time line regarding Georgeann Williams' criminal history (Williams defense Ex. 1 in evidence²) based upon records she obtained at the

² The exhibits introduced during the post conviction hearing are not identified as accurately as they might have been as the hearing proceeded. They seem to be referenced to the witness presenting testimony at the time. Parker endeavors to

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