IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC08-1385

J.B. PARKER,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Drive #900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

ISSUE V

THERE WAS NO <u>BRADY</u> ERROR IN THE STATE ATTORNEY PROVIDING THE TERMS OF THE JOHNSON COOPERATION AGREEMENT SINCE IT WAS WITHOUT MERIT AND PROCEDURALLY BARRED. (Restated)

Parker next claims that the State failed to disclose exculpatory evidence to the defense in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) when it did not provide a copy of the agreement it reached with Terry Johnson to secure his testimony. Parker alleges that the State deliberately withheld that actual cooperation agreement with Johnson which misrepresented the exact terms of the agreement. He argues that the trial court erred in denying this claim after the evidentiary hearing. As mentioned in the previous claim, the notice given to the defense said that Johnson had to testify truthfully while the agreement given to Johnson said that he must testify in accordance with his grand jury testimony and statements to the police. The trial court properly found this claim procedurally barred and without merit when it denied it.

Recently, in <u>Pagan v. State</u>, 2009 WL 3126337, 3 (Fla. Oct. 2009), this Court set forth the proof necessary to prove a Brady violation and the standard of review:

Pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963), the State is required to disclose material information within its possession or control that is favorable to the defense. See Mordenti v. State, 894 So.2d 161, 168 (Fla. 2004). To establish a Brady violation, the defendant has the burden to show (1) that favorable evidence-either exculpatory or impeaching, (2) was willfully or inadvertently suppressed by the State, and (3) because the evidence was material, the defendant was prejudiced. See Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82, 119 S.Ct. 1936 (1999); see also Way v. State, 760 So.2d 903, 910 (Fla.2000). To meet the materiality prong, the defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that had the suppressed evidence been disclosed the jury would have reached a different verdict. See Strickler, 527 U.S. at 289, 119 S.Ct. 1936. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. See Way, 760 So.2d at 913; see also Strickler, 527 U.S. at 290, 119 S.Ct. 1936. The remedy of retrial for the State's suppression of evidence favorable to the defense is available when "the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." Strickler, 527 U.S. at 290, 119 S.Ct. 1936 (quoting Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 435, 115 S.Ct. 1555 (1995)). Giving deference to the trial court on questions of fact, this Court reviews de novo the application of the law and independently reviews the cumulative effect of the suppressed evidence. See Mordenti, 894 So.2d at 169; Way, 760 So.2d at 913.

Pagan, 2009 WL 3126337, 3. Brady claims are mixed questions of law and fact so

this Court applies a mixed standard of review, "defer[ring] to the factual findings made by the trial court to the extent they are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but review[ing] de novo the application of those facts to the law." Lightbourne v. State, 841 So.2d 431, 437-38 (Fla.2003) (citing Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1031-32 (Fla.1999)); Johnson v. State, 921 So.2d 490, 507 (Fla. 2005). See Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1031-32 (Fla. 1999); Rogers v.

<u>State</u>, 782 So.2d 373 (Fla. 2001); <u>Way v. State</u>, 760 So.2d 903 (Fla. 2000); <u>Jones v.</u> <u>State</u>, 709 So.2d 512, 519 (Fla. 1998); <u>Hegwood v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 170, 172 (Fla. 1991); <u>Strickler v. Greene</u>, 527 U.S. 263, 280-82 (1999); <u>High v. Head</u>, 209 F.3d 1257, 1265 (11th Cir. 2000); <u>U.S. v. Starrett</u>, 55 F.3d 1525, 1555 (11th Cir. 1995).

"[F]avorable evidence is material and constitutional error results from its suppression by the government, if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 435 (1995). "As noted by the United States Supreme Court, '[t]he mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense." Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067, 1069 (Fla. 1988) (quoting United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 109-10 (1976)). Evidence has not been suppressed, and therefore, "'[t]here is no Brady violation where the information is equally accessible to the defense and the prosecution, or where the defense either had the information or could have obtained it through the exercise of reasonable diligence." Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1061-62 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Provenzano v, State, 616 So. 2d 428, 430 (Fla. 1993). Prejudice is shown by the suppression of exculpatory, material evidence, that is where "there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial

would have been different if the suppressed documents had been disclosed to the defense." <u>Stickler</u>, 119 S. Ct. at 1952. "Reasonable probability" is "a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>United States v. Bagley</u>, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985) (plurality); <u>Kyles</u>, 514 U.S. at 435. When pleading a <u>Brady</u> claim, a petitioner must show that counsel did not possess the evidence and could not have obtained it with due diligence, and the prosecution suppressed the favorable, material evidence.

In order to satisfy prejudice under <u>Brady</u>, a defendant must show the evidence was exculpatory and material. <u>Way v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 177, 178 (Fla. 1993). Evidence is material "if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>United States v. Bagley</u>, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985). "A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id</u>. Prejudice is measured by determining whether "the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419, 435 (1995). "As noted by the United States Supreme Court, '[t]he mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense."

Gorham v. State, 521So.2d 1067, 1069 (Fla. 1988) (quoting U.S. v. Agurs, 427 U.S.

97, 109-10 (1976)). Parker did not meet any of the three prongs necessary to establish a Brady violation.

The trial court found:

Parker claims that the State failed to disclose the terms of Johnson's 1999 witness agreement which required Johnson to testify consistent with his 1982 and 1983 testimony implicating Parker as the shooter. And Parker contends that the State was aware of Johnson's 1989 "recantation" affidavit indicating that Parker was not the shooter but at the 2000 resentencing hearing the State allowed Johnson to falsely deny his signature on the affidavit. In his motion, Parker does not identify the 1982 and 1983 testimony, or explain the specifics of the "recantation."

Further, Parker did not allege, and this court did not admit at the evidentiary hearing, any newly discovered evidence of "recantation," suppression, or false testimony that was not available at the time of the 2000 resentencing hearing. Consequently, the <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u> violations could have been raised on the resentencing appeal, and thus, are procedurally barred on collateral review. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 675 So. 2d 567, 569 (Fla. 1996) n.1.

(PCR 8/1122-23)

The trial court properly found the matter procedurally barred. Parker should have raised this issue on direct appeal. This Court has long held that proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second appeal; nor is it appropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue. Likewise, issues that could have been raised on direct appeal, but were not, are not cognizable through collateral attack. Parker v. State, 904 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 2005); Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636

So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 1994).

The State actually did file a statement or notice detailing its agreement with Johnson which specified that he was to testify truthfully in exchange for the State informing the parole board of his cooperation or lack thereof. ®. 5, 864-866) Parker contends that the State violated Brady by this procedure since the exact wording of the notice differed from the actual agreement. Obviously the State believed that Johnson was truthful in his police statements and grand jury testimony since they decided to use him as a witness against the more culpable defendants. The prosecutor's statement at trial bears this out. Parker did not show that "material" evidence was withheld. The record clearly shows both the nature of the agreement as well as the fallacy of this argument. In fact, Lamos did use the agreement to impeach Johnson as shown by multiple questions during his cross examination. [R. 28, 1946-70) At the evidentiary hearing Johnson testified that the State Attorney's office informed him that it would not oppose his parole if he testified about who was in the back seat with him. (PCT 22/469) The only agreement the State gave him was that it would not show up at his parole hearing. (PCT 22/486-87) Parker has failed to show how the agreement the State provided differed substantially from that to which Johnson testified to or how it would have provided any additional impeachment. He failed to demonstrate the necessary prejudice, that if Lamos had cross examined Johnson using the words "in accord with the sworn testimony..." rather than "truthfully" the trial result would have differed in any way. Parker did not meet his burden under <u>Brady</u> and this Court should uphold the trial court's denial of this claim.

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN LIMITING ANDERSON'S EXPERT TESTIMONY. (Restated)

In Parker's final issue he claims that the trial court erred in ruling that expert testimony was not appropriate on the issue of attorney ineffectiveness. He argues that the court misapplied <u>Casey v. State</u>, 969 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007), review denied, 984 So.2d 1250 (Fla.2008) and Anderson should have been allowed to give his opinion on Lamos's performance. The State disagrees. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting Anderson's testimony. Relief should be denied.

"The standard applicable to a trial court's ruling on the admission of evidence is whether there has been an abuse of discretion. <u>See Zack v. State</u>, 911 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 2005). The trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of abuse. <u>See Boyd v. State</u>, 910 So.2d 167 (Fla. 2005)." <u>Schoenwetter v.</u> <u>State</u>, 931 So.2d 857, 869 (Fla. 2006). <u>See Dessaure v. State</u>, 891 So.2d 455, 466 (Fla. 2004); <u>Ray v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 2000; <u>Cole v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable. <u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), *citing* <u>Huff v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990).

Post-conviction counsel Barone put Anderson on the stand and went through all the files and records he reviewed in the Parker case. She then asked him the following question: "Do you have an opinion as far as Mr. Lamos' conduct in this 2000 resentencing trial?" (PCT 23/500) It was that question to which the State objected, citing <u>Casey</u>. In arguing the objection, Barone also argued that Anderson should be allowed to testify as to whether a particular strategy or tactic followed by Lamos was reasonable as well. (PCT 23/502) The court then ruled:

So I think it would permit you to question this witness as to what a reasonable investigation might have been, but I don't think you can ask questions as to whether or not Mr. Lamos rendered effective or ineffective assistance.

I don't know what you examination entails, but I'm sustaining objections to any questions that ask this witness to comment on the impermissible or unreasonableness of any tactical decision made by Mr. Lamos.

(PCT 23/502, 504) The trial court did not abuse its discretion in its ruling or its interpretation of <u>Casey</u>.

In Casey the defense post-conviction attorney wished to call an attorney as an expert witness to offer an opinion on whether the trial attorney rendered effective assistance, claiming that testimony was necessary to prove that the attorney's performance fell below that of a competent attorney. Casey, 969 So. 2d at 1057. Provenzano v. Singletary, 148 F.3d 1327, 1331-32 (11th Cir.1998), the Citing Casey court held that the question of whether or not an attorney is ineffective or reasonable in his decisions if a pure matter of law and not open to expert opinion. "There is no due process or other violation in the trial court's excluding expert testimony in the post-conviction evidentiary hearing." Casey, 969 So. 2d 1058. As in Casey, Parker wished to present evidence into the "reasonableness" component under Strickland. The Casey court said that "whether the attorney made a strategic decision (meaning, understood the possible choices and purposefully took one as opposed to the other) is the factual portion, and the determination of whether that strategic decision was reasonable is the legal portion. ... Testimony is not required as to whether the actions taken were "reasonable," as this is a matter of law to be made by the judge after consideration of the factual testimony." Id. The Casey court, and the trial court here, agreed that an expert attorney could give an opinion on what a reasonable investigation might entail. Anderson did indeed testify on various investigative inquiries and preparation were reasonable in this case given its history. There was no abuse of discretion.

As to Parker's final point that the State was allowed in the late 1980's to present the trial prosecutors as witnesses as to the original trial counsel's performance, the standard of review for the admissibility of evidence is still abuse of discretion. The fact that one court in a particular situation admitted evidence does not mean another court may not reach a contrary reasonable decision in another situation. The law, both federal and state, interpreting Strickland and its standards have evolved over the last twenty-five years. All of the cases relied on by the Casey court other than Stirckland came about in the last ten or so years, including Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974 (Fla. 2000) (holding that under Florida law that both the performance and prejudice components of an ineffectiveness claim are mixed questions of law and fact.) and Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003) (discussing the focus on whether counsel's actions or strategy was reasonable.). In the present case, the defense attempted to introduce evidence specifically prohibited by an appellate court in its own jurisdiction. The defense also did not attempt to proffer the testimony so this Court is left to speculate on what Anderson may have said. Even if he had been allowed to render an expert opinion on Lamos's competence, effectiveness, and trial strategies, that would not have discharged the trial court's independent duty to assess and to evaluate whether Parker had met his burden under <u>Strickland</u> to prove ineffectiveness. Here the trial court did indeed make such a determination and found that Parker had failed to meet that burden. Anderson's testimony would not have altered the record or the other evidence presented at the hearing on the postconviction motion upon which the trial court relied in reaching its conclusions.

Parker also argues that this trial court was bound by the evidentiary ruling of a previous trial court twenty years before. That is not law of the case. These were different evidentiary hearings involving different witnesses and issues. The law of this case would involve questions of law actually decided upon on its merits, like the suppression of Parker's May 5 statement to the police.

Under the law of the case doctrine, a trial court is bound to follow prior rulings of the appellate court as long as the facts on which such decision are based continue to be the facts of the case. *See McGregor*, 162 So. at 327. Moreover, even as to those issues actually decided, the law of the case doctrine is more flexible than res judicata in that it also provides that an appellate court has the power to reconsider and correct an erroneous ruling that has become the law of the case where a prior ruling would result in a "manifest injustice." *Strazzulla*, 177 So.2d at 5.

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